
Stephen Jackson

Growth and Volatility at Sioux Falls College, 1953–1978

“Both Sides of the Mountain”

Founded in 1883, the University of Sioux Falls, formerly Sioux Falls Col-
lege (SFC), is the oldest private college in the state of South Dakota, yet 
its history is not very well known.1 Reuben P. Jeschke wrote two histo-
ries of the college during his tenure as president, one in 1958 and one in 
1968, but these served more as fundraising tools than works of history 
and were not widely distributed. Later, a planned centennial history 
of the college was never completed.2 While this lack of attention may 
reflect the school’s small enrollment, which stands at less than 1,500 
undergraduate students, it belies the institution’s foundational role in 
the city of Sioux Falls.
	 In SFC’s rich history, the quarter century span between 1953 and 1978 
stands out as a pivotal period. Institutional publications and the re-
cords of the board of trustees reveal that the college entered the 1950s 
with a damaged reputation, a precarious financial situation, and seri-
ously inadequate campus facilities. By the end of the 1970s, however, 
SFC emerged with its recognizably modern physical form and institu-
tional culture. The institution owes this success to a favorable national 
environment for higher education, the resilience of its leadership, and, 
above all, the commitment of the American Baptist Convention (ABC) 
to support SFC and maintain a collegiate presence on the Great Plains.
	 The college overcame several critical challenges during these trans-
formative years. Since its founding, SFC has faced brutal competition in 

1. The University of Sioux Falls has had multiple names over the years. It was founded 
as the Dakota Collegiate Institute in 1883. Two years later, its name changed to Sioux Falls 
University. It then became Sioux Falls College in 1931 before finally gaining its current 
name in 1995. This article will refer to it as Sioux Falls College, since that was the name of 
the institution during the time period under discussion.

2. Reuben Jeschke, Dream of the Pioneers: A Brief and Informal History of Sioux Falls College 
in Commemoration of Its Seventy-Fifth Anniversary (Sioux Falls: Sioux Falls College, 1958); 
Reuben Jeschke, A Decade of Growth (Sioux Falls: Sioux Falls College, 1968); Carol Mashek, 
To Raise a Candle for the College: A Centennial History of Sioux Falls College, unpublished 
manuscript, 1980–1982, University of Sioux Falls (USF) Archives.
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	 3. Jason Lane and Francis J. Kerins, “Middle Border States: Higher Education in Idaho, 
Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wyoming,” in Higher Education in the Ameri-
can West: Regional History and State Contexts, ed. Lester Goodchild, et al. (New York: Pal-
grave Macmillan, 2014), p. 104.

South Dakota, a state with a high number of colleges and universities 
compared to a low population.3 The college was well-placed in the ma-
jor population center of the state, but Augustana College—a Lutheran 
institution founded in 1860—was only a few blocks away. 
	 Despite successfully negotiating the hardships of the Great Depres-
sion, SFC appeared to be on the brink of collapse following the Second 
World War. The institution elected to transition to junior college status 
a mere six months before the United States entered the war with disas-
trous results. While college leaders reversed this decision after just two 
years, it continued to damage the institution’s credibility a decade later. 
Worse still, the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools de-
clined SFC’s request for regional accreditation as a four-year institution 
in 1949, a crushing blow that led to the resignation of college president 

This 1966 map of Sioux Falls College (SFC) reflects the significant expansion of the 
university that had occurred since the early 1950s.
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Ernest Smith.4 These disadvantages meant that SFC was not in a posi-
tion to capitalize on higher education’s “golden era,” a postwar boom 
in attendance and popular support.5 Few could have guessed at the in-
auguration of Reuben P. Jeschke, then, that his stint as the eighteenth 
president of SFC from 1953 to 1970 would mark what is inarguably the 
college’s greatest period of growth and prosperity. 
	 SFC was able to thrive during the Jeschke years for two primary rea-
sons. The first of these was the college’s relationship with the ABC, its 

While SFC’s location in Sioux Falls gave it significant local competition, with Au-
gustana College and Dakota Wesleyan University located nearby, it was the only 
Baptist college in the Northern Great Plains. 

	 4. Stephen Jackson, “ ‘In War as in Peace, Culture for Service’: Sioux Falls College and 
the Successive Crises of Depression and War,” in Denominational Higher Education During 
World War II, ed. John Laukaitis (Cham, Switz.: Palgrave Macmillan, 2018), pp. 33–66; John 
Bails, “Culture for Service: Sioux Falls College,” in From Idea to Institution: Higher Educa-
tion in South Dakota, ed. Herbert T. Hoover (Vermilion: University of South Dakota Press, 
1989), pp. 171–80; Jeschke, Dream of the Pioneers, 136.
	 5. John Thelin, A History of American Higher Education, 2nd ed. (Baltimore: Johns Hop-
kins University Press, 2011), chap. 7. 
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	 6. Sioux Falls College was affiliated with the Northern Baptist Convention, which 
formed in 1909 to unify a conglomeration of Baptist institutions. It was renamed the 
American Baptist Convention in 1950 and American Baptist Churches, USA in 1972. For 
more on the history of the Northern Baptist Convention, see H. Leon McBeth, The Baptist 
Heritage: Four Centuries of Baptist Witness (Nashville: Broadman Press, 1987); Ralph Tin-
gley and Kay Tingley, Building on the Rock: The South Dakota Baptist Convention 1950–1981 
(Sioux Falls: South Dakota Baptist Convention, 1981), p. 1. See also Jackson, “‘In War as in 
Peace, Culture for Service,’” p. 37.
	 7. Jeschke, My Life and My Family (Salem, Ore.: By the Author, 1985), p. 78 and chap. 37.
	 8. Jeschke, “Report of the President,” 27 Sept. 1955, p. 18, Board of Trustees Minutes, 
Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 

sponsoring Christian denomination. Although there were few Baptists 
in South Dakota—the church counted a mere 7,100 congregants across 
the entire state in 1950—SFC was strategically important because it 
was the only Baptist college in the five-state region of North and South 
Dakota, Iowa, Minnesota, and Nebraska.6 At several critical junctures, 
the American Baptist Board of Education (ABBE)—the national body 
that supported Baptist educational institutions across the country—
provided essential financial support and strategic guidance to the col-
lege. Secondly, SFC grew during the 1950s thanks to an advantageous 
set of conditions for higher education. SFC leadership developed a 
strong donor base, took advantage of public funding opportunities, and 
managed to rapidly expand student enrollment, ensuring an explosive 
period of growth in the late 1950s and throughout the 1960s.
	 Though he only began working at SFC a year earlier, Jeschke be-
came president after the unexpected resignation of Evan Reiff in 1953. 
Jeschke’s overwhelming priority in his first few years was to regain the 
college’s accreditation. Lacking accreditation marked the college as a 
second-class institution in the eyes of the community and especially of 
prospective students.7 It also prevented the college from seeking grants 
and hampered its fundraising efforts, feeding what Jeschke called “a 
vicious circle: more people (including many Baptists) would support 
us if we were accredited; but we can’t be accredited until more people 
support us!”8 
	 To obtain accreditation, the faculty initiated a self-study of the cur-
riculum in the 1954–1955 academic year, and the college conducted a 
campus-wide self-study the following year in accordance with the 
standard practices of the regional accrediting body, the North Central 
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	 9. Jeschke, “How Near is Accreditation?” Sioux Falls College Alumni Bulletin 46, no. 3 (Feb.–
Apr. 1956): 1, USF Archives. 
	 10. Ibid.
	 11. Jeschke, “Report of the President,” 27 Sept. 1955. 

Association.9 Gaining accreditation required significant improvements 
to the campus, particularly adding dormitory space and an enhanced 
library, hiring and retaining qualified faculty, and demonstrating a re-
cord of balanced budgets.10 The price tag for all of these changes was 
high, especially considering that the college was still operating under a 
budget deficit.11
	 The key to SFC’s financial stability was its relationship with the 
ABBE. In June 1955, Jeschke and the board of trustees agreed with the 
ABBE on “A Plan for Stabilizing and Expanding Sioux Falls College into 
an Accredited Christian College Under the Sponsorship of the Ameri-
can Baptist Convention,” thereafter rather dramatically referred to as 

President Reuben P. Jeschke, seen here speaking to a group of students, was an 
influential figure in the growth of Sioux Falls College. 
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	 12. “A Plan for Stabilizing and Expanding Sioux Falls College into an Accredited Chris-
tian College Under the Sponsorship of the American Baptist Convention,” Board of Trust-
ees Special Meeting, 18 June 1955, pp. 100–3, Board of Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF 
Archives. 
	 13. While the institution adopted this new corporate name, it was still colloquially re-
ferred to as Sioux Falls College. Many in the community found the name change confus-
ing, and it also created headaches when the college filed taxes. Jeschke opined that “the 
ruling of the Treasury Department is that gifts are only tax deductible when made out 
in the name of The Midwest Baptist Society,” even though many gifts were made out to 
Sioux Falls College. The corporate name reverted to the familiar Sioux Falls College soon 
thereafter. Jeschke, “Annual Report of the President,” 26 Sept. 1961, Board of Trustees 
Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 14. Jeschke, “Spring Report of the President,” 27 Mar. 1962, p. 91, ibid. The amount de-
creased over time, and was gradually phased out beginning in 1972. Ronald Wells, “Presi-
dent’s Report to the Board of Trustees,” 16 Oct. 1972, p. 46, ibid.
	 15. Everett Sugarbaker, “Report to the Board by Everett Sugarbaker,” 1 Oct. 1957, p. 19, 
ibid. 

“The Plan.” The document envisioned a reorganized board of trustees 
for SFC that contained additional members from the ABC, a steadily 
growing endowment, and a major campaign to both liquidate debt and 
address campus renovations and improvements.12 The Plan went so 
far as to rewrite SFC’s articles of incorporation under a new name, the 
Midwest Baptist Education Society, to more closely reflect its relation-
ship with the ABC.13 The high level of support that the ABC provided 
proved critical in stabilizing SFC and priming the institution for rapid 
growth over the next decade and a half.
	 After the board ratified the Plan, the ABBE began issuing SFC an an-
nual grant of $40,000 that continued until 1974.14 This grant was the 
largest that the ABBE provided to any college at that time. It was ear-
marked to aid SFC’s development team, particularly by hiring an exec-
utive vice president who could assist the college’s fundraising efforts. 
That position went to Everett Sugarbaker, who made an immediate 
impact on the SFC development plan and was instrumental in raising 
funds for the college over the next several years.15 The amount of mon-
ey that the ABBE donated seemed paltry compared to the college’s bud-
gets even a decade later, but in the mid-1950s it provided an enormous 
boost to SFC and significantly stabilized its finances. 
	 The Plan also involved reorganizing the college itself. Shortly after its 
adoption, SFC set up an advisory board to fundraise in the Sioux Falls 
community, reorganized its board of trustees, and adopted a ten-year 
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	 16. Jeschke, “Annual Report to the Board,” [n.d.] 1956, p. 4, ibid. 
	 17. “Executive Committee Minutes,” 27 Sept. 1956, p. 1, ibid.

development strategy designed to radically improve the campus and 
secure regional accreditation.16 By 1956, SFC balanced its budget for the 
first time in several years, a feat it managed for much of the remainder 
of Jeschke’s long tenure as president.17 
	 This groundwork paid off in 1958, a momentous year in the college’s 
history. On its seventy-fifth anniversary, SFC finally regained provision-

In his tenure as president, Jeschke—seen here at center with his wife, Sabina 
Jeschke, and Minnesota businessman Norman B. Mears—worked with trustees, 
alumni, and the community to ensure the college had a stable future. 
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	 18. “Board of Trustees Annual Meeting,” 30 Sept. 1958, p. 5, ibid. The North Central As-
sociation reevaluated Sioux Falls College in 1961 and granted the college full regional ac-
creditation. Jeschke, Decade of Growth, p. 40. 
	 19. “Students and Gifts Move More Readily to Accredited School,” Sioux Falls College Bul-
letin, Special Report (Summer 1957), USF Archives. 
	 20. Thelin, History of American Higher Education, p. 361. 
	 21. Jeschke, “Annual Report of the President,” 27 Sept. 1955, p. 16, Board of Trustees Min-
utes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives.
	 22. Jeschke, “Annual Report of the President,” 30 Sept. 1958, p. 13, ibid. 
	 23. Jeschke, “President’s Report to the Board of Trustees,” 1 Oct. 1968, p. 132, ibid. 

al accreditation from the North Central Association. SFC also success-
fully fundraised for a new men’s dormitory, partially by securing a large 
federal loan. By this point, a new dorm was an absolute necessity due to 
a 22 percent increase in enrollments that year. Each of these successes 
built upon the last, but achieving accreditation, even provisionally, was 
the real victory.18 SFC was now better able to advertise to prospective 
students, apply for grants from large foundations and the federal gov-
ernment, and make strong appeals to wealthy individual donors.19 
	 The stunning successes of 1958 allowed SFC to capitalize on a condu-
cive atmosphere for higher education. Across the country, universities 
and colleges experienced unparalleled public support and massive en-
rollment increases. Total national enrollment went from 1.5 million stu-
dents in 1940 to 7.9 million by 1970, a stunning increase prompted both 
by the postwar “baby boom” and growing popular support for mass 
higher education.20 
	 After 1958, SFC experienced a similarly dramatic increase in enroll-
ment. Enrollment was volatile in the 1940s and early 1950s but had 
stabilized by the mid-1950s.21 In 1957, Jeschke reported a stagnant en-
rollment of 233 full-time students, but by the fall semester of 1958 that 
number had jumped to 285 and the president confidently predicted that 
sharp enrollment growth would continue into the 1960s.22 Though his 
predictions may have sounded overly optimistic at the time, they actu-
ally underestimated the growth of SFC’s student population over the 
next decade. The college’s baby-boom enrollment peaked in the fall of 
1968 with a full-time student population of 725 and an impressive total 
of 1,023 when including nontraditional and part-time students.23
	 Rapid enrollment growth is the dream of any college administrator, 
but managing that growth presents a significant set of challenges. The 

Copyright 2021 by the South Dakota State Historical Society, Pierre, S.Dak. 57501-2217 issn 0361-8676



Fall 2021 • “Both Sides of the Mountain” • 209  

	 24. S. V. Martorana and Ernest V. Hollis, Higher Education in South Dakota: A Report of a 
Survey (Washington, D.C.: Department of Health, Education and Welfare, 1960), p. 197. 
Following World War II, Sioux Falls College received three decommissioned military 
buildings for use on campus. Jackson, “‘In War as in Peace, Culture for Service,’” p. 55.
	 25. Jeschke, “Spring Report of the President,” 27 Mar. 1962, pp. 83–84, Board of Trustees 
Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 26. Thelin, History of American Higher Education, chap. 7. 
	 27. Ibid, p. 293. 
	 28. Ibid, p. 296. 

most pressing issue for SFC was its physical campus, which was in no 
way prepared for this influx of students. The existing structures were 
insufficient to house and instruct so many students, and many of the 
buildings desperately needed renovation. A 1960 independent survey 
of higher education in South Dakota strongly recommended significant 
improvements to the SFC campus. The report suggested that Meredith 
Hall—the college’s original building—be demolished as a “serious haz-
ard,” that all of the World War II-era structures then in use on cam-
pus be replaced as soon as possible, and that a new fine-arts center be 
constructed in addition to new dormitories.24 It also strongly criticized 
the inadequacies of the college’s library, which again became a point 
of particular concern after a survey by the American Library Associa-
tion offered a similar assessment in 1962.25 Although SFC’s achievement 
of accreditation certainly helped with fundraising, these construction 
and renovation needs carried a shockingly high price tag.
	 For the next decade, Jeschke and the board of trustees turned their 
attention to an enormous renovation and expansion of the college’s 
physical campus. Again, they found national and regional conditions 
decidedly favorable. Beginning with the Servicemen’s Readjustment 
Act of 1944, better known as the GI Bill, American higher education in-
stitutions received unparalleled levels of financial support from federal 
and state governments as well as private grant-issuing foundations.26 
Public institutions received most of this support, but private liberal 
arts colleges like SFC also benefited, proving to be, as historian John R. 
Thelin describes, “remarkably resourceful and effective in adjusting to 
the market of student choice in the 1950s and 1960s.”27 Smaller colleges 
emphasized their individualized approach in contrast to increasingly 
large and impersonal public institutions.28
	 Though accreditation paved the way for SFC to take advantage of 
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	 29. “Board of Trustees Adjourned Session,” 5 Apr. 1960, p. 86, Board of Trustees Minutes, 
Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 30. For a more panoramic view of Baptist institutions of higher education, see William 
H. Brackney, Congregations & Campus: North American Baptists in Higher Education (Macon, 
Ga.: Mercer University Press, 2008).

government funding for new construction, the board of trustees seri-
ously questioned whether this was appropriate for a small Christian 
college. The issue was first raised in 1960, with the board proclaiming 
that the college’s “long-range spiritual, moral, economic and social 
values” depended upon policies “of self-help and independence from 
government assistance.”29 In other words, a majority of board members 
expressed moral scruples about accepting government aid. Though this 
thinking was in line with Baptist principles about the separation of 
church and state, it would not have been a common stance for Baptist 
colleges nationally.30 In fact, it was not even in line with SFC’s history, 
since the college accepted a great deal of government assistance in the 
immediate aftermath of the Second World War, when it benefited from 
repurposing several decommissioned wartime structures as dorms and 

In the 1960s, outside organizations strongly urged the college to update its library, 
which needed extensive repairs. 
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	 31. See Jackson, “‘In War as in Peace, Culture for Service.’”
	 32. “Board of Trustees Adjourned Session,” 5 Apr. 1960, p. 87, Board of Trustees Minutes, 
Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 33. Jeschke, “Mid-Year Report of the President,” 31 Mar. 1964, p. 104, ibid. 
	 34. “Board of Trustees Midyear Meeting Minutes,” 31 Mar. 1964, p. 70, ibid. 
	 35. The buildings include John W. Kroske Hall, Grand Island Memorial Hall, Burgess 

as a chapel.31 The 1960 resolution instructed the SFC administration to 
seek out private funding sources and to only accept government loans 
or grants “as a last resort.”32 
	 Concerns regarding accepting federal funds remained a source of 
contention among the board for the next four years. The issue came to 
a head in March 1964, when the costs of what would become the Nor-
man B. Mears Library continued to rise and the college struggled to find 
matching private funds. President Jeschke asked the board for a firm 
policy to guide SFC in the years to come. Aside from the philosophical 
implications of accepting government funds, there was also significant 
concern that accepting such aid would diminish private donations to 
the college. Though Jeschke was willing to accept the board’s decision 
either way, he shared his own considered opinion: “We can hardly af-
ford to refuse this help if most others accept it. That is, unless we have 
in immediate prospect the equivalent in private support. Otherwise 
we may have facilities and programs inferior to those of others who do 
have more resources.”33 In other words, the skyrocketing costs of con-
struction and operation necessitated accepting any and all sources of 
funding, especially since nearby competitors were already capitalizing 
on these programs. Ultimately, the board resolved to authorize fund-
ing from both private and public sources.34 Over the next half decade, 
SFC took advantage of several federal grant and loan opportunities that 
proved essential in the major construction projects of those years.
	 With this philosophical issue resolved, Sioux Falls College construct-
ed three new dormitories, a new student union, a house for the pres-
ident, a library, and a science building between 1960 and 1967. The 
new buildings facilitated major enrollment increases and fundamen-
tally reshaped the physical campus. Philanthropic contributions from 
wealthy donors were particularly critical for the various construction 
projects.35 In May of that year Time Magazine published an advertise-
ment in the Chicago metropolitan area, entitled “7 Buildings in 7 Years,” 
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Hall, Salsbury Student Union, Salsbury Science Center, and the Norman B. Mears Li-
brary. Jeschke, Decade of Growth, chap. 4, 8.
	 36. The editors of Time revised the title proposed by SFC. Jeschke’s original title was 
“What! You have never heard of Sioux Falls College?” Jeschke, “President’s Report: Path of 
an Idea,” Sioux Falls College Bulletin 57, no. 5 (July 1967): 1, USF Archives. 

that touted this impressive accomplishment.36 With the exception of 
the president’s house, each of these structures is still currently in use 
at the University of Sioux Falls half a century later. 
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A campus flyer (facing page)
and an advertisement in Time 
(left) celebrate the success 
of Sioux Falls College’s 
ambitious building plan, 
which saw it add seven new 
buildings to campus in as 
many years. 

	 Though Jeschke was understandably jubilant about the rapid growth 
of the campus, the era of expansion also brought problems for SFC. 
Both faculty and students frequently complained that the administra-
tion and board ignored their needs while single-mindedly focusing on 
building campaigns.37 Jeschke recognized this as early as 1964, when he 
wrote to the board that “we must henceforth carry our physical expan-

	 37. Mashek, To Raise A Candle for the College. 
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This 1962 campus report detailed the priorities of the college moving forward, 
which included hiring a greater number of faculty members at higher salaries. 

sion mostly from special gifts, and begin to direct more funds toward 
endowment, faculty salaries, student program services, and instruc-
tional strengthening.”38 Despite this recognition, the college’s records 

	 38. Jeschke, “President’s Report to the Board of Trustees,” 30 Mar. 1965, p. 82, Board of 
Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
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	 39. Thelin, History of American Higher Education, p. 310. 
	 40. Jeschke, “Memo to Faculty Relative to Comparative Salary Levels,” 13 Oct. 1967, p. 40, 
Board of Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 41. Thelin, History of American Higher Education, p. 309. 
	 42. Jeschke, “Midyear Report of the President to the Board of Trustees,” 28 Mar. 1967, p. 
97, Board of Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 43. “Special Meeting of the Executive Committee,” 2 Oct. 1967, p. 4, ibid. 

for the next several years indicate that attention remained squarely on 
physical expansion with these other needs only occasionally addressed.
	 For faculty, the most pressing issue was compensation. The academic 
job market was the most robust in the history of American higher ed-
ucation during the 1950s and 1960s, and national faculty salaries rose 
rapidly as a result.39 The salary scale at SFC rose during the 1960s, but 
not nearly as swiftly as at other colleges and universities in the area. 
Aware of this, Jeschke resisted publishing SFC’s salary data with the 
American Association of University Professors because it would simply 
proclaim “our low totem-pole rating to the world.”40 In 1965 and again 
in 1967, faculty expressed discontent with this situation, and retaining 
qualified faculty became a perennial problem for the college through-
out the decade.
	 Accounts of student activism in the 1960s often focus on sit-ins and 
demonstrations. In reality, that form of activism was limited to a small 
handful of campuses.41 The records do not indicate any significant po-
litical activism among students at SFC, but they were increasingly vocal 
about some of the social restrictions placed upon them. In particular, 
students wanted to smoke and dance on campus. The college’s admin-
istration had held the line against smoking for some time because of 
its negative health effects and the potential fire hazard. Formal dances 
had never been allowed at SFC, and Jeschke adamantly argued that the 
policy ensured that the college played “fair with its Baptist church con-
stituency.” Jeschke’s attitude on this issue was clearly out of step with 
popular opinion; by the 1960s, more than three-quarters of students 
had been allowed by their parents to go to dances and all but two ABC 
colleges allowed dances on campus.42 Moreover, SFC students had held 
dances off campus for a number of years. By 1967, student pressure fi-
nally succeeded, and the college created designated smoking areas and 
allowed formal dances on campus.43
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This architect’s sketch shows the design for the Jeschke Fine Arts Center, a project 
that eventually caused the college serious financial trouble.

	 While the SFC administration only gradually addressed the press-
ing concerns of students and faculty, they continued full speed ahead 
with the building program in the late 1960s. The most difficult build-
ing project in this era of the college’s history, and of Reuben Jeschke’s 
long tenure as president, was the building that today bears his name: 
the Jeschke Fine Arts Center. Plans for a fine arts center and a joint 
chapel and auditorium began as early as 1956 with the ten-year devel-
opment program.44 Yet, ballooning cost estimates and more pressing 
needs across campus consistently delayed the project. The earliest pro-
jections estimated the cost at under $600,000 for the building, but the 
ultimate cost for the entire project exceeded that estimate by more than 
350 percent.45 Construction began in 1968 with completion expected in 
1970, but the structure ended up taking an additional year to build. 

	 44. “Campaign for $100,000 Underway in Sioux Falls,” Sioux Falls College Bulletin 48, no. 
2 (Feb. 1958): 2, USF Archives. 
	 45. Jeschke, A Decade of Growth; Jeschke, “Memorandum on Overall Completion and Fur-
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nishing of the Chapel-Auditorium and Fine Arts Center,” 12 June 1969, p. 118, Board of 
Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 46. Reuben Jeschke, “Report of the President,” 24 Mar. 1970, p. 87, ibid.
	 47. “Executive Committee Regular Meeting,” 27 Aug. 1970, p. 9, ibid. 
	 48. “SFC Mourns Sugarbaker,” Stylus 72, No. 11 (12 Jan. 1967): 1. 
	 49. Thelin, History of American Higher Education, p. 320–22. 

	 In 1968, Jeschke wrote A Decade of Growth, a work that triumphant-
ly showcased the college’s success. Just two years later, SFC once again 
faced spiraling debt, a budgetary deficit, declining enrollments, and 
a profound financial crisis. Following two tragic deaths in the family 
and a physical breakdown resulting from what he called “nervous ex-
haustion,” Reuben Jeschke resigned as president in the spring of 1970.46 
This was an ignominious ending to his long tenure as president of the 
college. Jeschke should rightly be remembered for presiding over SFC’s 
greatest growth period during the 1960s, but his last two years, which 
brought with them a desperate financial situation, should also not be 
forgotten.
	 Construction costs for the fine arts center rose much faster than an-
ticipated, and by August 1970, with the building still under construc-
tion, fundraising efforts had left a $460,000 shortfall for the project.47 
SFC faced its biggest fundraising task of the decade without vice pres-
ident Everett Sugarbaker, who died due to complications from surgery 
in 1967.48 Sugarbaker had led the college’s highly successful develop-
ment efforts since the late 1950s, and his death was a major blow to the 
administration. The gargantuan debt caused by the fine arts center pre-
cipitated the return of turbulent times to SFC in the 1970s.
	 What a difference a decade makes. The national environment for 
higher education was dramatically worse by the 1970s. The economic 
shocks caused by the 1973 oil embargo marked the beginning of a peri-
od of anemic economic performance. The postwar baby boom peaked 
in 1968, and by the 1975–1976 academic year enrollments dropped na-
tionally for the first time since 1951. These adverse economic conditions 
were particularly challenging for small liberal arts colleges unable to 
count on public funding. Colleges across the country entered an era of 
belt tightening and readjustment. SFC administrators had long under-
stood that this crisis was coming. While the budget deficit and balloon-
ing debt from the completion of the fine arts center were bad enough, 
the college also faced a steep reduction in private sources of giving.49 
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	 As it had during the early 1950s, SFC relied on the ABC in its time 
of need. Indeed, the ABBE proved instrumental in resolving SFC’s two 
most pressing needs following Jeschke’s resignation: finding a new pres-
ident and paying the construction costs for the fine arts center. Ronald 
V. Wells, former executive director of the ABBE, agreed to become the 
new president.50 That same year, Roger Fredrikson, an SFC alumnus 
and trustee, became president of the ABC.51 These connections made 
the bond between the college and denomination tighter than ever be-
fore. Critically, the ABBE also helped finance the remaining costs of the 
fine arts center by agreeing to guarantee a loan of $335,000 from North-
western National Bank.52 Without this assurance, SFC would not have 
been able to secure the loan, and their financial difficulties would have 
escalated.
	 By 1972, SFC—while still operating in a deficit—had developed a plan 
to fully finance the fine arts center. The plan involved the loans guar-
anteed by ABBE, a loan from the National Bank of South Dakota, and 
additional philanthropic donations.53 This plan significantly increased 
the college’s overall debt but enabled it to successfully pay for the initial 
costs of the building and distribute the additional payments over time. 
	 As they negotiated the fiscal crises of the early 1970s, SFC adminis-
trators began to pay more attention to campus culture. A key part of 
this was reevaluating the Christian atmosphere on campus. John But-
ler, SFC’s academic vice president and dean, argued that religious life 
on campus needed serious attention, as it had become “one of the most 
ignored portions of college life” at SFC.54 In December 1970, the board 
of trustees voted to form a committee to study “our stance as a Chris-
tian college” and “ways of increasing the Christian witness and com-
mitment of this college community.”55 
	 Aiming to bolster SFC’s Christian identity, the board made the criti-
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cal decision to hire the college’s first-ever campus pastor. Traditionally, 
faculty and administrators had led campus chapel services, but by 1971 
the board of trustees recognized that having a campus pastor was “of 
paramount importance in order to emphasize our position and mis-
sion as a Christian college.”56 Larry Bowden became the college’s inau-
gural chaplain and director of religious activities in the fall of 1971.57 
He adopted a student-centered approach that sought to meet “students 
‘where they are.’”58
	 Trustees, students, faculty, and administration also gave careful 
thought and attention to the everyday practices of religion on campus 
when they formed the Committee on Religious Life in 1971. The com-
mittee recommended that chapel service be significantly revised, and, 
critically, that the attendance requirement be waived. The committee 
lobbied for a new program with “an active rather than passive empha-
sis” and a voluntary hour of chapel offered every day. These reforms 

Even though chapel attendance was not mandatory, many students, like those 
pictured here in the late 1970s, regularly gathered for worship and fellowship.
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to chapel carefully balanced the college’s traditional Christian identity 
with the changing demands of the student body. By revitalizing Chris-
tian life on campus with contemporary educational practices, it sup-
ported SFC’s traditional Christian identity. The decision to make chap-
el voluntary also empowered students with a much higher degree of 
choice. The campus holds voluntary chapel only once per week in the 
twenty-first century, but in many respects the plan developed in the 
early 1970s is recognizably similar to present-day Christian life at the 
University of Sioux Falls. 
	 One positive note for SFC was that, despite the major financial chal-
lenges it experienced in the 1970s, the North Central Association re-
newed the college’s accreditation in the spring of 1972.59 The associ-
ation’s report argued that the college was “quite strong,” praising its 
“well-defined educational task,” adaptable administration, and experi-
enced faculty.60 The physical campus was in excellent shape, and the 
“long-term debt on the physical plant is entirely manageable.”61 The 
report confirmed, however, that the institution’s short-term debt was a 
significant problem that needed to be addressed quickly.62 
	  As yearly deficits continued to build, and enrollment numbers de-
clined, President Ronald V. Wells considered a radical alternative: merg-
ing SFC with two other institutions of higher education based in Sioux 
Falls. The original initiative for a merger came from Augustana College. 
The two institutions had recently begun cooperative programs in ar-
eas such as criminal justice and social work, and their close geograph-
ical proximity also made a merger viable.63 In early 1970, Augustana 
passed a resolution to form a “Joint Study Commission on Institutional 
Co-operation,” better known as the CIC, to explore the possibilities of 
more effective cooperation, “including the formation of a confedera-
tion of, or an organic merger of the two institutions.”64 
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In 1971, SFC 
president Ronald 
V. Wells (left) met 
with Augustana 
College president 
Charles L. Balcer 
(right) to discuss a 
potential merger 
between the two 
schools.

	 There were several potential advantages to this merger. By consoli-
dating Augustana College, Sioux Falls College, and the North American 
Baptist Seminary, which had moved to Sioux Falls in 1949, the unified 
institution would not have to compete with so many nearby neighbors 
and would benefit from a higher level of efficiency. Additionally, the 
Louis W. and Maud Hill Family Foundation, a charitable organization 
started by the son of railroad magnate James J. Hill, expressed serious 
interest in providing grant funding to combine these private organiza-
tions.65 The prospective merger seemed like an incredible opportunity 
to create a financially stable and efficient organization that would ex-
perience less regional competition while bringing in major grant fund-
ing. With Wells’s enthusiastic support, the board of trustees authorized 
the formation of a joint committee to study increased cooperation with 
Augustana in December 1970.66
	 Tom Kilian, then Augustana’s vice president for development, chaired 
the CIC. The group explored multiple levels of cooperation, even going 

	 65. Lane and Kerins, “Middle Border States,” p. 121; Charles Balcer, Ronald Wells, and 
David Draewell to Robert Bonine, undated, Administrative Heads: Ronald V. Wells, Series 
1, RG 2, USF Archives. Bonine was the assistant executive director of the Louis W. and 
Maud Hill Family Foundation.
	 66. “Minutes of the Executive Committee,” 1 Dec. 1970, p. 54, Board of Trustees Minutes, 
Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
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so far as to draft articles of incorporation for the new institution, which 
they tentatively called Dakota University.67 The proposal envisioned a 
“federal union” that allowed each college to “reserve for itself those 
functions, services, properties, rights and powers as it may feel are de-
sirable to retain.”68 Initially, Dakota University would be governed by 
a board of regents that included members from each institution and 
would maintain an executive committee containing their presidents. 
The university would then gradually transition to having a full-time 
president or chancellor.69 
	 In addition to drafting proposed articles of incorporation, the CIC 
recommended four potential options for Augustana, Sioux Falls Col-
lege, and the North American Baptist Seminary to consider moving for-
ward. The first option was for each organization to abandon increased 
cooperation and “go their separate ways.”70 The second option would 

Tom Killian, seen here giving a speech at the South Dakota State Historical So-
ciety’s annual meeting in 1986, served as Augustana College’s vice president for 
development in the early 1970s and later became the president and namesake of 
Kilian Community College in Sioux Falls. 

Copyright 2021 by the South Dakota State Historical Society, Pierre, S.Dak. 57501-2217 issn 0361-8676



Fall 2021 • “Both Sides of the Mountain” • 223  

	 71. Ibid. 
	 72. “Resolution on Institutional Cooperation,” May 1972, Board of Trustees Minutes, Se-
ries 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 73. Ibid. 
	 74. Balcer, Wells, and Draewell to Bonine. 

continue current practices and perhaps find measures to increase co-
operation while maintaining completely separate programs and iden-
tities. The third option went a step further, proposing that the colleges 
cooperate heavily and only maintain “some degree” of institutional 
identity. Option four was a complete merger. By a small margin, the CIC 
members voted for option three.71 
	 In the spring of 1972, Wells presented the board of trustees with a 
resolution concerning institutional cooperation. The resolution stated 
that all of the evidence gathered by the CIC and conversations over the 
previous year indicated “that the best interests of the three institutions 
would be served through increased cooperation in the future,” espe-
cially in helping each institution receive grant funding to stay afloat.72 
The resolution clearly suggested a “need to preserve the identity and 
sovereignty of each of the cooperating institutions,” but it empowered 
Wells to join with the presidents of Augustana and the North American 
Baptist Seminary “to administer and operate those departments and 
functions which each of the institutions may from time to time agree to 
delegate to it.”73
	 Planning efforts went even further than what the CIC envisioned. In 
an application for $3.3 million in grant funding from the Louis W. and 
Marie Hill Family Foundation, the trio of college presidents proposed a 
multistep process to complete the merger. The first step was to create a 
corporate federation of the three institutions as envisioned by the CIC. 
The second step involved paving the way towards enhanced efficiency 
by synchronizing college schedules, equalizing student costs, and iden-
tifying areas that could be combined. The third phase would be to de-
velop a private Sioux Falls area community college and create enhanced 
professional schools at the new corporation. By following all of these 
steps, the presidents assured the foundation, “a major new ordering of 
the higher educational establishment of South Dakota would be an as-
sured ultimate result.”74 
	 While the idea of a merger greatly appealed to the three college pres-
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idents, other community stakeholders strongly opposed the idea, and 
the measure divided the SFC community.75 Faculty at both Augustana 
and SFC were united in opposition. For the former, the potential loss of 
jobs, alumni support, Lutheran affiliation, and the “unique smallness 
of the liberal arts college” far outweighed any promised gains.76 Many 
SFC faculty, meanwhile, felt that their Augustana counterparts viewed 
themselves as superior, and that in a potential merger they would “al-
ways be the ‘second class citizen.’”77 Both faculty groups pointed to the 
lack of specifics in the various proposals. In general, employees were 
very concerned that personnel decisions would lead to layoffs.
	 John Butler, SFC’s academic vice president, was a prominent voice 
within the administration who opposed the CIC proposal, largely be-
cause it would undermine the college’s relationship with the ABC. He 
rejected arguments that a merger was the only way out of SFC’s finan-
cial troubles for several reasons. For one, he contended, “the Christian 
emphasis of the institution would drop to the least common denomi-
nator of the more closely related schools.”78 Autonomy and indepen-
dence had always been cardinal virtues of Baptist identity, and losing 
SFC would be a tremendous blow for the denomination. Above all, But-
ler argued, “it is immoral for us, or any other private college, to offer a 
program essentially like that of the surrounding state universities, and 
to ask twice the price for it.”79 He concluded that “there is something 
worse than failure to survive. It is a continuation of an institution with 
all of the regular classes and activities but without a mission—without 
its reason to exist.”80
	 A board of trustees meeting in the spring of 1973 decided the fate of 
the potential merger. By then, the North American Baptist Seminary 
had rejected the CIC-recommended option three and instead chose the 
second option, which called for only slightly increased cooperation. 
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Augustana’s board of regents would not vote until the following month, 
so the decision of SFC’s board of trustees was critical for the venture.81 
While Wells supported the CIC’s recommended option, only six out of 
thirty board of trustees members followed his lead. Ultimately, the 
board opted for option two, which involved increased cooperation but 
preserved strong institutional identities. The board also voted to move 
forward with the creation of a corporate entity called the North Cen-
tral University Center that would allow enhanced cooperation without 
a potential merger.82 
	 The board’s decision had significant ramifications. For SFC, part of 
the fallout was Wells’s resignation as president. His resignation let-
ter stated that while he respected the decision, he became “convinced 
that you will need new leadership” to manage the college in the coming 
years. Wells agreed, however, to continue on as president for an addi-
tional year to enable an effective search for his successor.83 SFC then 
immediately implemented cost-cutting measures, including slashing 
course offerings and reducing the overall number of faculty. The fol-
lowing year, cutbacks reduced the total number of full-time faculty to 
their absolute nadir in the post-World War II era: a mere twenty-five.84 
	 Despite the gloom of the moment, there were hopeful signs that 
SFC was slowly emerging from the crisis of the early 1970s. Debt from 
the fine arts center’s construction had been considerably reduced by 
selling stocks given to SFC by Norman B. Mears. The major remaining 
problem was the debt accumulated from years of budget deficits. By 
1976, SFC trustee Louis L. Lillibridge proposed a fundraising campaign 
to eliminate the outstanding debt by the following June. Though Lil-
libridge’s effort did not meet the deadline, pledges significantly eased 
the college’s debt burden for the foreseeable future.85 

	 81. “Inter-Institutional Cooperation,” Spring Board of Trustees Meeting, 26, 27 Mar. 
1973, Board of Trustees Minutes, Series 5, RG 1, USF Archives.
	 82. Ibid.
	 83. “Minutes of the Executive Committee,” 31 May 1973, Board of Trustees Minutes, Se-
ries 5, RG 1, USF Archives. 
	 84. “Report on Recommendations for Implementation of Curriculum and Organization-
al Changes in Sioux Falls College,” 25–26 Mar. 1974, p. 82, ibid.; Wells, “President’s Report,” 
23 May 1974, p. 106, ibid.
	 85. “Minutes of the Board of Trustees Fall Meeting,” 5 Oct. 1976, p. 24 and “Minutes of 
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	 On the national level, SFC greatly benefited from new opportunities 
for student aid. The Basic Educational Opportunities Grants, renamed 
Pell Grants, offered federal financial aid to students at the institution of 
their choice.86 SFC took advantage of this new funding by hiring Glen 
Poppinga as director of financial aid and ensuring that students knew 
about federal aid programs. Though it took time, these efforts helped 
grow enrollment in the second half of the 1970s.87
	 By 1978, the new SFC president, Owen Halleen, noted that the empha-
sis on efficiency and cost-cutting measures had significantly improved 
the college’s position, and the college was once again operating in the 
black.88 Halleen was confident enough in the college’s financial situa-
tion to begin preparations for a new dorm for married students, which 
would be the first structure built on campus since the major expansion 
of the Jeschke years. SFC also began exploring new majors to attract 
students, including the possibility of offering master’s programs for 
the first time.89 These new initiatives indicated that SFC had worked 
its way through the crises of debt and enrollment declines that typified 
the 1970s. 
	 While the merger of the three Sioux Falls private colleges did not 
move forward, those discussions had long-lasting ramifications for the 
city. In April 1976, the North Central University Center, in a motion ap-
proved by SFC’s board of trustees, created a community college.90 The 
new community college—named after Tom Kilian, who became its first 
president—was a unique endeavor in the history of South Dakota high-
er education. The private nonprofit community college remained in op-
eration until 2016. When it closed, the University of Sioux Falls, as SFC 
became known in 1995, agreed to take on Kilian students, continue their 
outreach “Bridges Program,” and create the Dr. Thomas Kilian Academ-
ic Success Center.91
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	 Another transformative moment for SFC occurred in 1978 with the 
decision to adopt a new mascot: the cougar. For fifty years, the col-
lege’s mascot was the brave, and the school was strongly associated 
with American Indian symbolism. For instance, the college celebrated 
homecoming with an annual “Tepee Days” celebration that became a 
central part of campus culture. American Indian students at SFC began 
publicly questioning these practices in the early 1970s, rejecting these 
stereotypical images. Though most SFC alumni and students stressed 
that they did not believe this symbolism had racist overtones, by 1976, 
according to the Sioux Falls College Bulletin, “it became painfully appar-
ent that many practices and caricatures were no longer acceptable to 
depict Indian culture.”92 Students, alumni, faculty, and the administra-
tion debated and then voted to make a change, choosing the cougar as 
the college’s new mascot. 
	 The adoption of a new mascot was but one of a number of the col-
lege’s impressive accomplishments as it emerged from a period of 
explosive growth and difficult challenges from the 1950s through the 
1970s. Writing at the low point of the 1970s crisis, John Butler reflected 
on the volatility of these years: “While the more recent years have been 
a difficult struggle, my earlier years at Sioux Falls College were times 
of expansion, movement and achievement. I’ve had a chance to be in 
on both sides of the mountain, climbing and then descending. I’m con-
fident that the College will reach the valley’s bottom and will begin to 
climb again. It has happened before in the history of Sioux Falls College 
and surely the potential remains for it to happen again.”93 The college’s 
modern form emerged after it earned accreditation in 1958, undertook 
an unprecedented building program in the 1960s, and pursued curric-
ular innovations and institutional culture-building in the 1970s. These 
changes stemmed from the ABBE’s determination to support the college 
in challenging times and the ability of SFC leadership to take advantage 
of a favorable national environment for higher education.
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